NEW YORK UNIVERSITY

CENTER ON INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION

What happens now? – the post-2015 agenda after the High-level Panel

Alex Evans and David Steven

June 2013

NEW YORK UNIVERSITY

CENTER ON INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION

The world faces old and new security challenges that are more complex than our multilateral and national institutions are currently capable of managing. International cooperation is ever more necessary in meeting these challenges. The NYU Center on International Cooperation (CIC) works to enhance international responses to conflict, insecurity, and scarcity through applied research and direct engagement with multilateral institutions and the wider policy community.

CIC's programs and research activities span the spectrum of conflict insecurity, and scarcity issues. This allows us to see critical inter-connections and highlight the coherence often necessary for effective response. We have a particular concentration on the UN and multilateral responses to conflict.

Table of Contents

What happens now? – the post-2015 agenda after the High-level Panel

Alex Evans and David Steven

A New Agenda	2
The Big Questions	3
The Process From Here	4
The Open Working Group	4
The MDG Special Event and the first High-level Political Forum	5
The Expert Committee on a Sustainable Development Financing Strategy	5
Agreeing the Goals	6
A Summit on Financing?	6
The Other Post-2015 Agenda: climate change	6
The Politics of a Global Partnership Worth the Name	7
Conclusion: The Immediate Action Agenda	8
Annex: The High-level Panel's Illustrative Goals	11
About the Authors	12
Endnotes	13

What happens now? – the post-2015 agenda after the High-level Panel

A New Agenda

At the end of May 2013, the High-level Panel of Eminent Persons on the Post-2015 Development Agenda published its report, setting out an ambitious vision for tackling poverty and sustainable development after the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) - and a new set of goals that could potentially replace them.¹

The Panel proposed that the post-2015 agenda should be based around five transformational shifts:

- *Leave no-one behind* moving from reducing poverty to ending it, with no person, regardless of gender, ethnicity, religion, or disability, being denied basic economic opportunities and fundamental human rights.
- Sustainable development at the core a shift away from destructive patterns of economic development towards sustainable patterns of production and consumption.
- Transform economies for jobs and inclusive growth -. ensuring growth benefits the societies and people who need it most, while ending the jobs crisis and harnessing the energy of youth.
- Build peace and effective, open, and accountable institutions for all - recognizing that peace and good governance are essential to human well-being and sustainable development.
- Forge a new global partnership build a broad partnership able to deliver the post-2015 agenda and harness the finance needed to invest in change.

Public reaction to the Panel report has been broadly positive² Civil society groups have generally welcomed its scope and ambition. The headline ambition to eradicate absolute poverty received most attention, while the green lobby has praised the report's emphasis on greater integration of development and sustainability. Media coverage was also mostly favorable.

Not all stakeholders were satisfied. Critics from civil society focused primarily on the Panel's decision not to call for a headline goal to reduce income inequality, with the report instead proposing global minimum standards for the poorest (in other words, targets are only considered to have been achieved if they are met "for all relevant income and social groups"), together with broader-based growth to ensure a fairer distribution of the benefits of globalization. Others criticized the lack of explicit goals on planetary boundaries or on population aging.

The reaction of UN member states to the report is most important, of course, with most governments yet to make a public response. Indonesia, Liberia, and the United Kingdom, whose leaders chaired the Panel, are obviously supportive, while the European Commission has emphasized the importance of a development agenda that applies to all people and all countries. The US government has also welcomed the broad thrust of the Panel's recommendations.

On the other hand, there are indications that Least Developed Countries regard the Panel's report with a degree of wariness, unsure of the extent to which it reflects their concerns and priorities. Some countries may feel also uneasy about the Panel's recommendations in areas such as peace and security or governance, while others are likely to have reservations about the proposal for a single set of goals for both poverty and broader sustainability issues.

Opinion on the need for a Panel in the first place was also mixed. While some governments saw the Panel as an opportunity to develop a vision that would both inform and challenge the intergovernmental process, others questioned its value and legitimacy. Many states have been more focused on the Open Working Group (OWG) of the General Assembly on Sustainable Development Goals, discussed in more detail below, which was launched as an outcome of the United Nations Conference on Sustainable Development (Rio+20).

2

The next few months will therefore determine whether the Panel is able to influence the post-2015 debate effectively or whether its report is forgotten, as attention switches to other processes and publications. For the Chairs and those who served as panelists, in other words, the important work has only just begun.

The Big Questions

Now the Panel's report has been published, the post-2015 agenda will begin to shift into a new phase, culminating in September 2014 when the OWG submits its own report to the UN General Assembly. While the Panel has made a strong start in setting out a possible post-2015 agenda, a number of substantive questions will be debated over the next year. Among them are the following:

- One set of goals or two? While the Panel proposed a single set of goals covering both poverty eradication and sustainability, it is still possible that two sets of goals could be adopted. To date, Brazil has been the principal advocate of such an approach, but other member states made similar suggestions in the first session of the Open Working Group. Support for this approach remains limited, but could build again if consensus on sustainability objectives proves hard to reach.
 - What does universality mean? The Panel emphasized that its goals should be universal – covering *all* countries, not just developing ones. That said, the focus on absolute poverty means that many goals are not obviously applicable to high income countries – with obvious exceptions such as sustainable energy. This would clearly change if the eventual post-2015 framework included goals on inequality (see below), relative rather than just absolute poverty, or more explicit language on sustainable production and consumption or planetary boundaries.
 - What happens now on inequality? As noted, some constituencies criticized the Panel's approach to inequality and it remains to be seen how this agenda will now play out. Some advocates are pressing for a goal on income inequality (expressed, for example, in

terms of Gini Coefficient or Palma Ratio scores); some are more focused on inequalities in opportunity and/ or exposure to risk; others again support the Panel's focus on basic economic rights. An income inequality goal could represent a red line for some countries: the United States, Mexico, Brazil, and South Africa all fall into the most unequal guartile using the Palma ratio.³

- How will global goals/national targets work in practice? Within both the Panel process and the OWG, there has been much discussion of the idea that post-2015 goals should not apply rigidly to every country, and that a global framework should instead be adaptable to countries' individual situations – perhaps as a 'menu' of priorities to choose from. On the other hand, such an approach would seem to be in tension with the logic of 'zero goals' (e.g. a goal of eradicating poverty by 2030), where by definition all countries must achieve the desired outcome.
- How will issues such as conflict and governance be handled? The Panel proposed goals to ensure stable and peaceful societies and good governance and effective institutions. The need to include specific targets to build peace and strengthen societies will prove controversial with some countries, especially those concerned by the securitization of development issues or threats to national sovereignty. Conflictaffected states are generally supportive of the need for a greater focus on effective governance and tackling instability, however, and much will depend on how strongly they lobby in support of a common position.
- Where will sustainability and climate change fit in the goals? The Panel's proposed goals include both 'manage natural resources sustainably' and 'secure sustainable energy', and also suggest second-level targets on sustainable agriculture, sustainable fresh water use, and the need to keep global average warming to 2°C. A key question is whether the OWG will propose bringing climate change and sustainable production and consumption into the top-level goals.

3

- How clear is the implementation agenda? In focusing on social sectors like health and education, the MDGs prioritized areas of work where there was already extensive knowledge of what needed to be done: what was missing was the resources to do it. By contrast, it seems likely that much of the post-2015 agenda will lead towards areas of work where development actors are less sure of how to make progress, and more experimental approaches will be needed such as building capacity and accountability in fragile environments, moving to green economies, or promoting climate resilience. Consensus will be harder to achieve on the post-2015 agenda if doubts grow that it can be effectively implemented.
- Above all: what will be the political deal at the core of the post-2015 agenda? The architects of the MDGs were clear that the new goals were ultimately a means to the end of rebuilding Official Development Assistance (ODA) flows after the 'lost decade' for development of the late 1980s and early 1990s. Accordingly, as soon as the Millennium Summit had agreed the 'what' of the MDG agenda, work started on preparing for the 2002 Monterrey summit on financing for development (the 'how'). This time around, ODA and other financial flows will remain critical; but they will also need to be matched by a much broader global partnership, and recognition of a wider range of responsibilities for richer countries. So far, at least, there has been relatively little thought about what the key elements of such a partnership would need to be, or the political prospects for securing them. We return to this question more fully below.

The Process From Here

As member states and other stakeholders wrangle with these questions of substance, they will also face the challenge of keeping up with a complex, time consuming and – at times – fragmented process.

The Open Working Group

While there are proposals for a new intergovernmental process to negotiate the post-2015 development agenda, for the moment the Open Working Group will continue to act as the main forum for debate, with its focus on Sustainable Development Goals.

Initially, the OWG suffered from protracted wrangling over its membership, with some member states unhappy that it was restricted to 30 'seats.'⁴ This membership structure may, however, now prove to be a source of strength with most regions choosing to share seats between two or three countries that must work together to develop a common position on the issues under discussion. Moreover, the fact that any government can attend and speak at OWG meetings, whether or not it actually has a seat, is also being seen as a source of inclusiveness and legitimacy.

The OWG has now met three times, with five further sessions planned before February 2014. Sessions are organized around sectoral (employment, cities, oceans, etc.) and cross-cutting themes (inequality, the needs of 'countries in special situations'), with time also set aside to consider implementation and partnerships.⁵ The work plan after February is yet to be finalized, but the OWG is expected to report to the General Assembly in September 2014.

The challenge for the OWG is to produce proposals that are succinct, focused, and resonant both with member states and audiences outside New York. After February, OWG co-chairs are expected to start focusing on narrowing gaps between constituencies and building the blocks of the final report, as member state missions begin to move into negotiating mode. Some observers, however, predict the hard work of bargaining over priorities will be left to the last minute, with the OWG facing a tough challenge if it is to produce a focused set of recommendations in September 2014.

The MDG Special Event and the first High-level Political Forum

Over the next few weeks, attention will switch to preparations for a Special Event of the President of the General Assembly, to be held on 25 September 2013, and to the first High-level Political Forum (HLPF) that will be held back-to-back with it.

The Special Event is intended to "follow up efforts towards achieving the Millennium Development Goals" while also exploring the development agenda after 2015, and has been described as an opportunity for the General Assembly to begin developing "a single holistic and comprehensive development agenda."^{6,7}

A key input to these preparations will be a report from the Secretary-General, expected to focus mainly on progress in implementing the MDGs, but also to make important proposals on future development priorities. The report will draw not only on the Panel report, but also the recommendations of the UN System Task Team on the Post-2015 UN Development Agenda,⁸ national and thematic consultations facilitated by the UN Development Group,⁹ a report on the UN Global Compact, the report of the Sustainable Development Solutions Network,¹⁰ and the global consultation conducted through the MyWorld web platform.¹¹

The HLPF, meanwhile, is a new body established at Rio+20 as a replacement for the Commission on Sustainable Development, with a remit to "provide political leadership, guidance and recommendations for sustainable development... [and] a dynamic platform for... agenda setting to advance sustainable development."¹²

The incoming President of the 68th General Assembly (John Ashe, the widely respected Permanent Representative of Antigua and Barbuda to the United Nations), will have an historic opportunity to promote the Special Event and the HLPF as a key agenda-setting platform, while also establishing the Forum as the apex body for providing a high level oversight of the UN development agenda after 2015. There will also be an opportunity to draw on the expertise of other stakeholders, while ensuring the Forum retains its intergovernmental nature.

Overall, a strong report from the Secretary-General, combined with effective political leadership from the Special Event and the Forum, could provide decisive momentum for the post-2015 process, while providing an opportunity for governments to focus on the overall scope of the new development framework – before divisions over more controversial issues become entrenched.

The Expert Committee on a Sustainable Development Financing Strategy

The Open Working Group will be complemented by an intergovernmental committee to "propose options on an effective sustainable development financing strategy to facilitate the mobilization of resources and their effective use in achieving sustainable development objectives."¹³ Unlike the OWG, members of the Financing committee will be around thirty individuals rather than governments themselves, although in practice it seems likely that governments will nominate their own officials or diplomats, rather than independent experts, as representatives. The committee is supposed to report to the General Assembly in 2014, but the conclusion of its work may be delayed until 2015 if wrangling over representation causes delays.

An important question is how the committee will interpret its mandate. At one end of the spectrum, it could focus on assessing Official Development Assistance needs, and comparing these against current levels. Alternatively – and more usefully – it could look at finance more broadly, for example considering areas like climate finance, private sector investment, and innovative financing. Even more broadly, it could use the identification of financial needs to explore all means of implementation of the post-2015 agenda.

In any case, the committee offers an opportunity to ensure essential analytical work is completed that will be needed to underpin a delivery plan for the post-2015 agenda. It also provides a mechanism to begin ensuring that

ministries of finance become closely involved in the post-2015 discussions, complementing the work of ministries of foreign affairs, as well as the work of environment ministries on the Rio+20 agenda.

Agreeing the Goals

Once the OWG has submitted its report to the General Assembly in September 2014, the post-2015 agenda will move into the home straight – during what is likely to be one of the busiest periods for multilateralism in years.

Most important will be the question of what happens once the OWG has submitted its report on Sustainable Development Goals to the General Assembly in September 2014. At present, there is no formal modality for submitting its proposals to a summit of member states. However, many in New York assume the September 2015 meeting of the High-level Political Forum (the HLPF's second meeting) will in practice be the political 'moment' at which goals are agreed.

In the background, there is the question of what will happen between 2014 and 2015 if, as some pessimists predict, the OWG fails to reach consensus, or is able to agree only on an unfocused document. A new intergovernmental process would further complicate the calculus, especially if it starts before the OWG has concluded. The collective negotiation by all 193 member states not just of a broad vision and approach, but of specific goals and targets, will be unprecedented in its nature and complexity, and is unlikely to reach a conclusion without contentious and protracted debate.

A Summit on Financing?

One recommendation made in the High-level Panel report that has not so far received widespread attention is a proposal that "an international conference should take up in more detail the question of finance for sustainable development." Such a conference "should discuss how to integrate development, sustainable development and environmental financing streams" on the basis that "a single agenda should have a coherent overall financing structure." While the logic for such a summit seems clear, a harder question is when it would make most sense to hold such an event. One option would be to hold such an event after post-2015 goals have been agreed (the Monterrey summit was held a full two years after the Millennium Summit in New York, for example). A second option – and the one endorsed by the Panel – would be to hold the event during 2015, for example a few months before the September HLPF, where it could draw on the work of the Expert Committee on Financing Strategy and provide a strong signal that the proposed post-2015 agenda will be backed up with resources.

The Other Post-2015 Agenda: climate change

Governments have agreed on a deadline of 2015 for reaching a new deal on climate change, for implementation in 2020. Just as in the run up to the Copenhagen summit, this will ensure that climate negotiations become an increasingly dominant item on the international agenda. This provides opportunities for integration with the development agenda, but also creates risks, especially if levels of distrust grow between countries from different regions and income groups.

While many observers believe that the two processes can be kept in their silos, experience shows that the lines are likely to become blurred over time, especially as heads of state become involved. September 2014, for example, will see not only the OWG's report but also a head of government level summit on climate change convened by the Secretary-General in New York. There will henceforth be two simultaneous discussions seeking to chart paths towards sustainable production and consumption paths, each involving charged questions of equity and 'common but differentiated responsibilities.' It may make more sense actively to ensure these processes complement and support each other, than to allow tensions and contradictions to build.

The Politics of a Global Partnership Worth the Name

At present, many governments are just beginning to focus on the post-2015 agenda and have yet to develop a firm position on the key issues. Capitals and missions in New York are not always aligned, while few ministries of finance have engaged with an agenda that has potentially profound consequences for national policy. Over the next six months, however, an inflection point is likely to be reached as a critical mass of countries begin to engage at a serious and senior level, with key areas of agreement and disagreement becoming more sharply defined.

Delivering success by 2030 requires engagement across the full range of economic, social and environmental issues, leading to a global partnership with genuine commitment to delivering sustainable development. This work needs to begin immediately, identifying where shared interests allow for new partnerships to evolve, and the 'stretch positions' that might allow compromises to be made. Governments will need to work first individually, and then together, to identify the boundaries of the possible if they are to build a post-2015 agenda with ambition, credibility, and purpose.

ln 2013:

African countries have the potential to play a decisive role. African countries have fast-growing workforces and need an economic transformation if they are to provide young people with jobs and other economic opportunities. Africa is also projected to be home to up to 90% of the world's poor in 2030 on a businessas-usual trajectory and therefore has a strong interest in ensuring broad commitment to an 'end poverty' agenda.¹⁴ They therefore have powerful incentives to insist on 'getting to zero' goals that complete the unfinished business of the MDGs, while advocating for the policies, strategies, and investment needed to enhance their productive capacity. African countries still emit very low levels of greenhouse gases and are worryingly exposed to climate damages, and will therefore continue to be important advocates of a

robust climate change deal that offers them fair shares of any global carbon budget.

- Leadership from major powers will clearly be important. In his 2013 State of the Union speech, President Obama said that the "the United States will join with our allies to eradicate such extreme poverty in the next two decades."15 China made a decisive contribution to poverty reduction and to economic transformation in the MDG era and has indicated that it intends to be at the forefront of shaping the post-2015 agenda in a "cooperative and win-win spirit."¹⁶ In recent years, Brazil has demonstrated innovative approaches to inclusive development in areas such as food security and social protection, developing a model that is highly influential in South-South cooperation. India, meanwhile, is the single country that will most determine the world's success in meeting its goals after 2015, given both the extent of its residual poverty and of its development opportunities. Europe, finally, is certain to play an active part, building on its role as a key architect of the MDGs. There is an unprecedented opportunity for these, and other, major powers to develop joint approaches to find common ground on the post-2015 agenda, even while they disagree on other geopolitical issues.
- Any country, however, has the chance to exert disproportionate influence on the process. Through its early advocacy for the SDGs, Colombia has demonstrated how effectively a single country, equipped with a clear vision and strategy, can define the post-2015 process. Many UN member states, especially smaller countries, will have their greatest chance to shape the debate if they make an *early* contribution, rather than waiting for 2014 or 2015. Advocacy around the High-level Political Forum and Special Event is likely to be particularly effective, but only if governments, or broader partnerships that include civil society and business, can present cogent and compelling proposals that rise above the formulaic jargon that dominates UN debates on development and if these messages are carried forward by effective member state representatives in New York.

7

It is important that the Secretary-General himself sets out a vision. The post-2015 agenda is, clearly, an essential legacy issue for the Secretary-General, drawing to a conclusion his advocacy on sustainable development that has defined his time in office. He needs to use the coming months to respond to the transformational shifts recommended by the Panel, and in particular to add his moral authority to the growing call to end poverty. He must also provide reassurance to key UN constituencies that controversial issues will be sensitively handled and that there will be no attempt to make commitments before a firm consensus has formed. Finally, he needs to begin the work of galvanizing the partnerships that will deliver key objectives after 2015, providing reassurance that the new framework is amenable to implementation.

The Secretary-General should also begin recruiting champions to help him quide the post-2015 process to a successful conclusion. The High-level Panel Chairs should be kept closely involved in the process, forming the nucleus of an informal 'Group of Friends'. The President of Liberia has already committed to helping develop a common position among both African countries and conflictedaffected states. The President of Indonesia should be asked to play a similar leadership role in Asia, including after he finishes his second term of office in 2014. The British Prime Minister can also make an important contribution, drawing on the UK's ability to influence a range of international institutions. The governments of Hungary and Kenya are also deeply involved in the post-2015 process, as chairs of the OWG process, as are the co-facilitators of the Expert Committee on Financing (Kazakhstan and Norway) and High-level Political Forum (Brazil and Italy). These and other countries can form the nucleus of a group that will help the SG build consensus over the next two years.

Conclusion: The Immediate Action Agenda

Despite early momentum, the scale of the task in finalizing a post-2015 agenda, and agreeing a coherent set of global goals, should not be underestimated. It took a decade for the original MDGs to reach maturity, with two further years to finalize the targets themselves. Effective technical work will play an important role in providing a foundation for agreement, but ultimately the challenge is a political one.

During 2013, champions of a bold but practical post-2015 agenda need to tackle seven key areas for action.

1. <u>Seize the opportunity presented by the High-level</u> <u>Panel report.</u>

The High-level Panel has set out a challenging vision for the post-2015 agenda, but the mark of success of its report will be whether it fulfills the Chairs' stated objective of "stimulat[ing] debate over the prioritization that will be needed if the international community is to agree a new development framework before the expiry of the Millennium Development Goals." The Panel report should be presented at the June meeting of the Open Working Group and an extensive program of outreach conducted over the summer. Most important will be informal meetings that help member states understand the nature of the Panel's deliberations and why various options were adopted or rejected.

2. <u>Start thinking much more seriously about</u> implementation.

Business-as-usual will not deliver an end to income poverty by 2030, while many goals addressing other dimensions of poverty will be many times harder to achieve than the current MDGs (e.g. quality education, rather than simply access).¹⁷ The broader agenda poses even more profound challenges. New strategies are beginning to emerge for helping countries recover from conflict, but they are untested. The global jobs crisis has few easy solutions. Progress on climate stabilization and other environmental objectives is extremely weak. It is therefore essential that international organizations, and above all member states themselves, begin to

8

the new development agenda, turning a normative conversation into a strategic one. Without a credible route to implementation, political consensus is likely to

3. Ensure that the post-2015 agenda is not allowed to fragment.

prove extremely hard to reach.

develop the plans and partnerships that will underpin

While there are powerful arguments for a twin-track approach, the international system is unlikely to be able to agree or to implement more than one set of goals. Equally, while national flexibility is important, it is also essential that there are clear global standards, rather than a patchwork of voluntary targets that sacrifice the coherence of the MDGs. Finally, there is real danger in the negotiation itself becoming split unless heads of state/government agree to a roadmap in September 2013 for a smooth transfer from the Open Working Group and Expert Committee on Financing to a new intergovernmental forum in 2014 that will be responsible for concluding the new agenda.

4. Start with commitments to end poverty.

At its heart, the MDG framework is a poverty reduction framework, with large numbers of governments, development organizations, and civil society groups now aligned to its goals and targets. Any lack of continuity would have a significant impact on efforts to help the world's poorest people. Equally, many of the countries with significant numbers of people living in absolute poverty are keen to secure commitments that the focus on poverty will not be lost in a debate on broader sustainability issues where there is less international consensus. The commitment to ending poverty should therefore be at the heart of discussions in 2013, with provisional poverty goals set out by September 2014 for integration in the wider agenda as it is finalized.

5. Get underway immediately on harnessing the data revolution.

At present, we lack the data to design a post-2015 framework effectively, let alone to set a business-as-usual baseline or monitor progress after it is implemented.¹⁸ The High-level Panel called for the establishment of a Global Partnership on Development Data to fill data gaps and galvanize efforts to set a post-2015 baseline. This work needs to start immediately, with a firm commitment to funding, staffing, and supporting the new partnership an important output from the Highlevel Political Forum in 2013. Meanwhile, both Rio+20 and the Panel have proposed a Global Sustainability Report, which has the potential to become a platform for forcing international institutions to collaborate on developing and disseminating the common data and analysis the post-2015 agenda will rely on. The first edition of this report is already in preparation, with a wide range of UN agencies, and the World Bank, already engaged.

6. Move now on the partnerships agenda.

There is broad consensus that the post-2015 agenda will rely on new forms of partnership and will draw on new sources of finance. But outside a few sectors such as energy, little work has been done to demonstrate that it is possible to turn the rhetoric on partnership into reality. By building partnerships now, the UN will widen the circle of those with a strategic interest in the successful conclusion of the post-2015 negotiations, while demonstrating to all participants the potential scale of change that can be achieved.

7. Take the post-2015 debate outside the UN.

Broad consultations have played an important role in the early stages of the post-2015 debate, but it is now important to build on this outreach. While some member states will resist this reality, it is inconceivable that the post-2015 agenda will succeed in its more ambitious objectives without active support from the G20, designated by its members as the "primary institution for [their] economic cooperation," or from the major institutions of global economic governance such as the IMF and the WTO. In particular, it will be essential that the 2015 G20 in Turkey issues an unambiguous signal of consensus and support for a final agreement later in that year. Other international summits and meetings can also play an important role, such as the 6th BRICS summit in Brazil in 2014, and of course the 22nd African Union Summit in January 2014. Much broader civil society and media campaigning support will also be needed, especially at national level, making it easier for governments to put their differences aside and reach an ambitious agreement.

No-one should underestimate the scale of the challenge in agreeing and implementing a post-2015 agenda that has implications for most, if not all, significant global process, from climate change to trade, economic to energy governance, peace building to biodiversity. In 2015, the culmination of the post-2015 and climate processes will put multilateralism under unprecedented pressure, with potentially extremely serious fallout if outcomes cannot be delivered, especially in view of the weak outcomes from both Copenhagen in 2009 and Rio in 2012. The clock is now ticking. The world's governments must engage in open and serious debate today if an ambitious agreement is to be reached in two years' time.

10

Annex: The High-level Panel's Illustrative Goals

The High-level Panel of Eminent Persons was convened by the UN Secretary-General to advise him on a bold and at the same time practical development agenda beyond 2015.

In its report, it concluded that "its agreed vision and recommended priorities for the shape of the post-2015 development agenda cannot be communicated effectively without offering an example of how goals might be framed." It therefore set out twelve illustrative goals and associated targets to "promote continued debate and deliberation" on the new agenda. These are shown in figure 1.



Figure 1 - Illustrative Goals & Targets¹⁹

About the authors

Alex Evans and **David Steven** are both Senior Fellows at New York University's Center on International Cooperation, where they work on issues including international development, climate change, and resource scarcity. Their work on the post-2015 development agenda includes research for the High-Level Panel Secretariat, the Brookings Institution, and for former UK Prime Minister Gordon Brown.

Alex has worked over the past year to support Unilever CEO Paul Polman on his membership of the High-Level Panel, and was seconded to the UN Secretary-General's office as the writer for the 2011 UN High-level Panel on Global Sustainability, which first proposed the idea of Sustainable Development Goals. He also currently works with the Center for Global Development on future global climate policy. He lives and works in Ethiopia.

David is also an Associate Director at CIC, where he directs CIC's work on international development, as well as a Nonresident Senior Fellow in the Foreign Policy Program of the Brookings Institution. At Brookings, he is leading a research program into the geopolitical risks associated with natural resources and the environment. He is research director of the Pakistan Task Force on the Next Generation, which is exploring the country's demographic risks and opportunities.

Their publications include:

The Future is Not Good Enough: Business As Usual After 2015 (Alex Evans and David Steven, background paper for High-Level Panel on the Post-2015 Development Agenda, June 2013)

Goals in a Post-2015 Development Framework (David Steven, NYU Center on International Cooperation, January 2013)

Climate, Scarcity and Sustainability in the Post-2015 Development Agenda (Alex Evans, NYI Center on International Cooperation, 2012) *Beyond the Millennium Development Goals* (Alex Evans and David Steven, Brookings Institution, 2012)

Resource Scarcity, Fair Shares and Development (Alex Evans, Oxfam / WWF, 2011)

The World in 2020 – Geopolitical Trends and Analysis (David Steven, British Council, 2011)

2020 Development Futures (Alex Evans, Action Aid, 2011)

Confronting the Long Crisis of Globalisation (Alex Evans, Bruce Jones and David Steven, Brookings Institution, 2010)

These and their other publications are all available at http:// www.globaldashboard.org/articles-and-publications/

The authors would like to thank those who commented on earlier drafts of this report.

Endnotes

¹The High-level Panel of Eminent Persons on the Post-2015 Development Agenda, 2013, *A New Global Partnership: eradicate poverty and transform economies through sustainable development*. New York, United Nations. Available at http://www.post2015hlp.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/ UN-Report.pdf

²For a review of immediate reaction to publication of the High-level Panel report see: David Steven, 2013 'Early reactions to the High-level Panel Post-2015 report'. Global Dashboard. Available at http://www. globaldashboard.org/2013/05/30/reactions-post2015-repor-high-levelpanel-report/

³See, for example, Alex Cobham, 2013, 'Palma vs Gini: Measuring post-2015 inequality'. Center for Global Development. Available at http:// www.cgdev.org/blog/palma-vs-gini-measuring-post-2015-inequality

⁴United Nations General Assembly, 2013, *Open Working Group of the General Assembly on Sustainable Development Goals*. New York, United Nations. Available at http://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc. asp?symbol=A/67/L.48/Rev.1&Lang=E

⁵United Nations, 2013, *General Assembly Open Working Group on Sustainable Development Goals – Programme of Work 2013-2014*. New York, United Nations. Available at http://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/ content/documents/1778Pow2805.pdf

⁶UN News Centre, 2013, 'UN General Assembly focussing on current and future development agenda, its president says', 16 April 2013. United Nations. Available at http://www.un.org/apps/news/story. asp?NewsID=44677#.Ua3EmrWG1qU

⁷United Nations General Assembly, 2010, *Resolution adopted by the General Assembly: 65/1 Keeping the promise: united to achieve the Millennium Development Goals.* New York, United Nations. Available at http://www.un.org/en/mdg/summit2010/pdf/outcome_documentN1051260.pdf

⁸United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, undated, (Report of the UN System Task Team on the Post-2015 Development Agenda – Realizing the Future We Want for All.' United Nations. Available at http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/policy/untaskteam_undf/ report.shtml; and United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, undated, 'Report of the UN System Task Team on the Post-2015 Development Agenda – A renewed global partnership for development.' United Nations. Available at http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/ policy/untaskteam_undf/report2.shtml

⁹World We Want website, accessed 4 June 2013. Available at http://www. worldwewant2015.org/sitemap

¹⁰Sustainable Development Solutions Network, 2013, *An Action Agenda for Sustainable Development – report for the UN Secretary-General*. New York, Sustainable Development Solutions. Available at http://unsdsn.org/files/2013/06/post-2015-report-recommendations.pdf

¹¹World We Want website, 'About Us', accessed 4 June 2013. Available at http://www.worldwewant2015.org/post2015-about

¹²United Nations General Assembly, 2012, *Resolution adopted by the General Assembly: 66/288 The Future We Want*. New York, United Nations. Available at http://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/66/288&Lang=E

¹³United Nations General Assembly, 2012, Sustainable Development: implementation of Agenda 21, the Programme for the Further Implementation of Agenda 21 and the outcomes of the World Summit on Sustainable Development and of the United Nations Conference on Sustainable Development. New York, United Nations. Available at http:// daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N12/628/09/PDF/N1262809. pdf?OpenElement

¹⁴Andy Sumner, 2012, *Where do the World's Poor Live? A New Update*. Brighton, Institute of Development Studies. Available at http://www.ids. ac.uk/publication/where-do-the-world-s-poor-live-a-new-update

¹⁵The White House, 2013, 'The 2013 State of the Union'. Available at http:// www.whitehouse.gov/state-of-the-union-2013

¹⁶The World We Want, 2013, *Ministry of Foreign Affairs speech at the national consultation, 11 March 2013*. Available at http://www.worldwewant2015. org/file/330288/download/358811

¹⁷Alex Evans and David Steven, 2013, *The Future is Not Good Enough: Business As Usual After 2015 – background research paper*. New York, United Nations. Available at http://www.globaldashboard.org/wp-content/ uploads/2013/The_Future_is_Not_Good_Enough.pdf

¹⁸Ibid

¹⁹Department of International Development, 2013, via Twitter. Available at http://ow.ly/i/2eZnt

Related Publications from the **Center on International Cooperation**

Annual Review of Global Peace Operations 2012 Resource Scarcity, Climate Change and the Risk of Violent Conflict Alex Evans

Confronting the Long Crisis of Globalization: Risk, Resilience and International Order Alex Evans, Bruce Jones, and David Steven

Organizing for Influence | UK Foreign Policy in an Age of Uncertainty Alex Evans and David Steven

Hitting Reboot: Where Next for Climate Change after Copenhagen? Alex Evans and David Steven

Cooperating for Peace and Security: Evolving Institutions and Arrangements in a Context of Changing U.S. Security Policy Bruce Jones, Shepard Forman, Richard Gowan, eds.,

Climate Change and Hunger: Responding to the challenge Martin Parry with Mark Rosengrant, Tim Wheeler and Alex Evans

Power and Responsibility: Building International Order in an Era of Transnational threats Bruce Jones, Carlos Pascual and Stephen John Stedman

A Plan for Action: A New Era of International Cooperation for a Changed World 2009, 2010 and Beyond

Managing Global Insecurity (MGI)

More information about these and other recent publications can be found at www.cic.nyu.edu.

CENTER ON INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION

New York University 726 Broadway, Suite 543 New York, NY 10003 (212) 998-3680 cic.info@nyu.edu cic.nyu.edu